IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 78209

SIAOSI VANISI

Electronically Filed Sep 26 2019 03:51 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

WILLIAM GITTERE, WARDEN, ELY STATE PRISON, AARON FORD, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County The Honorable Connie J. Steinheimer

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RENE L. VALLADARES

Federal Public Defender

Nevada State Bar No. 11479

RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER

Assistant Federal Public Defender

Nevada State Bar No. 12577

JOANNE L. DIAMOND

Assistant Federal Public Defender

A. Jurisdictional Statement

This Court has jurisdiction under NRS 34.575(1); 34.830; 177.015(1)(b); 177.015(3). The district court entered a Notice of Entry and Order Feb. 6, 2019 denying habeas relief. 38AA08167. The district court entered a second Notice of Entry of Order on February 22, 2019 denying a motion for leave to file supplement. 38AA08174–80. Vanisi filed a Notice of Appeal with respect to both notices on February 25, 2019. 38AA08181. This appeal is from the district court's final judgment in Vanisi's post-conviction proceedings. *See* 38AA08167; 38AA08176.

B. Routing Statement

The Nevada Supreme Court retains this matter because this is a death penalty case. NRAP 17(a)(1).

C. Statement of the Issues

This appeal presents four issues:

A. Whether the execution of someone who suffers from severe mental illness violates the Nevada Constitution's prohibition of "cruel or unusual" punishments.

- B. Whether the district court erred by accepting Vanisi's waiver of his evidentiary hearing—ordered by this Court so the district court could hear evidence of Vanisi's mental illness as mitigation evidence—where it is the attorney's decision in how to litigate a claim, where Vanisi was not competent, and where this Court's order required an evidentiary hearing.
- C. Whether the district court erred by failing to disqualify the Washoe County District Attorney's office, where trial counsel appeared to believe that they were represented by the district attorney's office, and where the district attorney's office did not disabuse trial counsel of that notion, and where the district attorney's office participated in obtaining a full waiver of confidentiality and privilege in their favor as a condition to post-conviction counsel obtaining the case files of prior counsel.
- D. Whether Vanisi is entitled to habeas relief on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase, of a double jeopardy violation, and of his rights under *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

D. Statement of the Case

Vanisi was convicted and sentenced to death in the Second
Judicial District Court in late 1999. 18AA03816–21; 18AA03822. This
Court affirmed the conviction and death sentence in 2002. See Vanisi v.
State, 117 Nev. 330, 22 P.3d 1164 (2001).

Vanisi filed a timely initial post-conviction petition. 19AA03933.

On February 22, 2005, Vanisi filed, through counsel, a supplement.

19AA03953. The district court denied relief. *See* 21AA04381. This Court affirmed. *Vanisi v. State*, No. 50607, 2010 WL 3270985 (Nev. Apr. 20, 2010).

On May 4, 2011, Vanisi filed a habeas petition before the Second Judicial District Court. 15AA03033. The district court denied relief. 34AA07109. This Court reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing. *Vanisi v. Baker*, No. 65774, 2017 WL 4350947 at *2–3 (Nev. Sept. 28, 2017). After the district court found Vanisi competent, Vanisi waived his evidentiary hearing and the district court denied his remaining claims. 38A08167.

¹ Remittitur issued on July 19, 2010. See 15AA03031.

This appeal follows.

E. Nevada Constitutional Provisions

Article 1, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution provides:

"Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, *nor shall cruel or unusual punishments be inflicted,* nor shall witnesses be unreasonably detained." (emphasis added).

II. INTRODUCTION

"[M]ental illness or mental disorder of the defendant should be a consideration in mitigation of penalty." There are, however, six reasons that severe mental illness is not reliably considered in mitigation of penalty. First, individuals who suffer from severe mental illness have a compromised ability to cooperate with counsel. Second, their illness makes them a poor witness—both because of how they appear and because their illness affects their perception. Third, severe mental illness causes distortions that result in poor decision-making. Fourth, though severe mental illness should be mitigating, jurors are at great

² Larry Hicks, District Attorney of Washoe County and President of the Nevada Association of District Attorneys, S.B. 220, *Joint Assembly & Senate Jud. Comm. Hr'g*, Meeting Minutes, at 2, (Mar. 10, 1977).

risk of considering it aggravating. Fifth, state and defense experts are likely to disagree about the severity of mental illness, creating a risk that jurors will not understand the evidence. Finally, cases where the defendant suffers severe mental illness are often cases where the brutality of the offense might cause the jury to select a sentence infected with passion and prejudice.

Vanisi's case demonstrates these problems.

The Supreme Court has recognized that these problems required a categorical exemption from the death penalty for intellectually disabled offenders and juvenile offenders. This Court, construing the Nevada Constitution, should apply the same factors to hold that individuals suffering from severe mental illness are exempt from the death penalty.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This capital case comes from the uncommonly gruesome murder of University of Nevada police officer, Sergeant George Sullivan on January 13, 1998. *See* 16AA03282. Sergeant Sullivan, according to the State's closing, "was brutally beaten to death" with a hatchet. 8AA01662, 8AA01669. On January 14, 1998, after a stand-off with

police officers in Salt Lake City, Siaosi Vanisi was arrested and charged for Sullivan's murder. 8AA01580–91.3

For the next twenty years of litigation, Vanisi's mental health presented an intractable problem for his lawyers, the experts appointed to evaluate him, the district court, and this Court.

A. Vanisi's mental illness manifested in bizarre behavior, leading to a competency evaluation and contributing to a mistrial.

After six months of bizarre behavior observed by guards, trial counsel voiced concerns about Vanisi's mental health:

[W]e, the State and myself have received various reports regarding some bizarre behavior on behalf of Mr. Vanisi. From talking gibberish to washing himself in his own urine to dancing naked. I mean, stuff I do on Saturday night but stuff that's not the norm.

³ The State charged Vanisi with murder in the first degree, robbery with use of a deadly weapon, two counts of robbery with use of a firearm, and grand larceny. 16AA03280. The State alleged four statutory aggravating circumstances: the murder was committed in the commission of a robbery; the murder was committed upon a peace officer in the performance of his official duties; the murder involved torture or mutilation; and the murder was committed upon a person because of race. *See* 32AA06731; *see also* 16AA03280.

23AA04888. This was pre-trial, but counsel did not request a competency examination: "Well, I don't know. I guess a guy can dance naked and wash himself in his own urine and be competent as anybody else." *Id.*⁴ Nonetheless, the court ordered ordered an evaluation. 23AA04919.

Counsel had gotten to this point because of red flags that arose as soon as Vanisi was arrested in January of 1998. At the Washoe County jail, officers and other inmates watched Vanisi "talking to himself" and "dancing in the middle of the day room floor as if he was doing a religious style dance." 26AA05534. Officers' concerns kept Vanisi in and out of suicide watch. *See, e.g.*, 26AA05530, 26AA05535, 26AA05537, 26AA05548. Vanisi would make "howling sounds." 26AA0556. He was extracted from his cell enough times that the Sheriff's Office moved Vanisi to Nevada State Prison, where other inmates reported, "That crazy mother fucker in A-4 is talking crazy Vanisi was telling me

⁴ The court admonished trial counsel that Vanisi's mental health might be relevant to the penalty phase: "I don't know if it really affects his competency, but I think you should look into it, but it may affect your penalty phase if you get to a penalty phase. So you need to investigate that." 23AA04889.

how he did not like the way I was talking and out of know [sic] where started talking about eating pencils to kill himself he's always talking crazy and shit." 26AA05568.

By late July, the State contacted trial counsel to report concerns about Vanisi's competence because Vanisi was "acting very strange and bizarre" in prison. *See* 28AA05860. Trial counsel's notes reflected that Vanisi was:

- 1. wearing a hand-made mask
- 2. drawing tattoos on his arms
- 3. he is talking gibberish
- 4. he is pissing off every guard and inmate with whom he has had contact
- 5. some inmates have indicated they want to kill him
- 6. he is speaking in strange language
- 7. he is saying bizarre things
- 8. he talks ALL THE TIME and in a very loud voice about things no one understands
- 9. etc., etc., etc.

28AA05860. It was at the next court hearing that counsel reported the gibberish talking, the urine bathing, and the nude dancing. *See* 23AA04888. The court found Vanisi competent. 24AA05081.⁵

Though competent, trial counsel encountered difficulty working with Vanisi and concluded that the case was "indefensible." 28AA05885. Vanisi "began attempting to sabotage his defense team. He would refuse to sign documents (waivers, consent for documents, etc.), he would ask the same question over and over again (he wanted the answer to be as he wished), he would become difficult to deal with." 19AA03865. Because Vanisi's mental evaluations reflected "above average intelligence," Vanisi believed he was smarter than counsel. *See* 19AA03877.6 For example, it took trial counsel "more than three (3)

⁵ In one of the competency reports, Dr. Philip Rich, M.D. diagnosed Vanisi with bipolar affective disorder. 18AA03720. In the other, Dr. Richard Lewis, Ph.D., indicated that "a bipolar disorder should be ruled out" 32AA06743.

⁶ As discussed below, Vanisi's intelligence was actually one standard deviation below average. *See* § D.1.b below; *see also* 31AA06548 (full scale IQ score of 83).

months to convince [Vanisi] he should NOT go before a three-judge panel." 19AA03878.

A persistent disagreement before the first trial was whether to pursue a third-party defense. Against the advice of counsel, Vanisi insisted on presenting a defense that "Sonny Brown" committed the offense. 28AA05916. Vanisi would not relent until counsel agreed to pursue an alternate suspect defense. 19AA03866 ("After attempting to persuade the Defendant that the [someone else did it] defense was not workable in this case, we bowed to his wishes, after having advised him of the foolishness of his choice."); see also 19AA03878 ("The Defendant insisted in proffering the most implausible defense, against the advice of counsel").

The trial that resulted ended in mistrial, 25AA05332.8

 $^{^7}$ As discussed below, an adequate investigation into Vanisi's background would have revealed that Sonny Brown was one of the many personalities that Vanisi inhabited in the throes of his delusions. See $\$ D.1.a below; see also 26AA05483 (describing Sonny Brown personality).

⁸ The mistrial resulted because of a flawed transcript, which the trial counsel relied on in preparing the defense. Specifically, a phone conversation transcript—provided by the State to the defense—indicated that an individual nick-named Teki stated, "I just did a 187,"

- B. Vanisi's mental illness manifested in bizarre behavior, leading to a competency evaluation and contributing to his conviction and death sentence.
 - 1. Vanisi's bizarre prison behavior continued.

Within four months of the mistrial, Vanisi's bizarre behavior was, again, the subject of a court hearing. Trial counsel explained that they had volunteered to assist the jail in managing Vanisi:

Now, let me tell you what we have done. As soon as we were notified that Mr. Vanisi was involved in some unusual behavior, I immediately went up to the jail. He was in the infirmary. I calmed him down.

. . .

I went to the trouble of giving my card—and I'm not going to say who—because you know the sheriffs department has, like all law enforcement agencies, they tend to punish people who don't do their jobs. But it was given to them with my phone number on it. *And I told them if he starts to show what they consider bizarre behavior or unusual behavior*, they are to call me any time of the day or night, and I will go and I will diffuse the situation for them.

where "187" referred to killing. See 3AA00529; see also 2AA00352. However, in the audio, the statement was actually, "Baya just did a 187." 3AA00529–30. Baya was a nickname for Vanisi. In light of this transcription error, and the defense's heavy reliance on the transcript, the district court ordered a mistrial. 3AA00545–46.

24AA05064–65. Counsel's representations in May reflected the fact that there were continuing issues with Vanisi's mental health. Two months before, in March, the jail reported: "Midwatch said that Vanisi was sitting nude in his cell. Deputy Palmer noticed that Vanisi had arranged his uniform in such a manner that it appeared to be a person. When confronted about this configuration, Vanisi stated that 'It' is 'Casper." 27AA05598. This particular report noted that "[t]his morning, Vanisi did not have the toothpaste markings on his face" *Id.*

The following month, "Vanisi engaged in bazaar [sic] exercise.

This included rolling around on the ground, standing on his head and running into the wall" 27AA05600. "After a brief conversation with an inmate in A-11 Mr. Vanisi stood on the top tier and pointed into the air. He started chanting." *Id.*

On May 3, 1999, a guard described Vanisi's behavior before a visit with trial counsel's investigator. When the guard informed Vanisi of the visit, Vanisi replied, "I don't fucking want to see him" and "Tell him to go away." 27AA05610. The guard's report further explained, "Vanisi had white cream all over his face, along with his thermal shirt wrapped

around his waist (Tonga Style)." *Id.* After the legal visit began, Vanisi "wip[ed] his face off, he stated, 'oh boy'! 'Now I look like a porn star!" *Id.* On May 4 and May 5, Vanisi spent all day "banging on his door, toilet, and bunk," and "screaming," leading to a violent extraction.

27AA05611, 27AA05615–17. Another extraction occurred on May 6.

Two days later, Vanisi was walking around the prison tier, "not wearing clothes." 27AA05620. Other inmates were giving Vanisi toilet water, which he combined with soap before pouring the soapy toilet water all over his naked body. *Id.*

The guards had had enough, and after talking Vanisi back into his cell, extracted him and transported him to Nevada State Prison.

27AA05620–21. In a video depicting Vanisi being transported, Vanisi's hair is unkempt, his beard grown out and unshaved. 28AA05867, Clip

12. For more than twenty minutes, Vanisi rambled without prompting or response from the transporting officers: he talked to himself non-stop in grammatically correct, but logically incoherent, statements that followed from nothing. *Id.*

In late May, the prison reported that Vanisi would come out with "toothpaste all over his face" and would "wear his underwear on his head." 27AA05634. A prison psychologist offered a diagnostic impression of severe manic bipolar disorder. 27AA05649. A psychiatrist later explained that Vanisi "described seeing strange shapes in his cell at the time that caused him to behave in a particular way" and "alluded to certain geometric figures that were forming out of the orange peel on his cell floor" even though "there was neither orange peel nor any geometric figures visible to anybody else in the area." 18AA03667–68.

2. Trial counsel sought medication for Vanisi's mental health.

Finally, in June, trial counsel asked the court for an evaluation to have medications prescribed for Vanisi:

We talked to Mr. Vanisi this morning. He is highly emotional, and it's our opinion that a psychiatric evaluation should take place.

. . .

But we don't feel—although I was able to talk to him, and I haven't had a substantive conversation with him since March, and I can't keep him on substantive issues, because we go off on to other issues that I don't care to put on the record at this point

So we don't feel at this point, and I don't know quite how to put this, that he is emotionally capable of handling this hearing. So we're going to ask this Court to send him to Lake's Crossing for an evaluation and hopefully some sort of drug regimen that will allow us to continue.

24AA04995-96. Counsel added: "I just went to speak to him in the holding cell. He burst into tears. It's my opinion that he is not putting an act on." 24AA04997. The court agreed to order a competency evaluation, but counsel elaborated that his concern was more than competency:

I have already indicated that this man needs some help, Your Honor. Just having two people talk to him and then deciding whether or not he's competent is not sufficient, in my opinion. This man needs some medical help so that I can deal with him as a defense attorney, and obviously, Mr. Bosler. And so that we can carry on proceedings in a fairly civilized manner.

24AA05000. The court minimized counsel's observation: "Of course, as you indicated, you are not professionals in this area. So we need to get the report from the doctors and their recommendation. I understand you have no objections certainly to their administering to him

something that will help." 24AA05000–01. Counsel added, "my experience is they don't do anything to help. They just make the evaluation and submit it to the Court under the Court's suggested treatment of this issue." 24AA05001. The court noted counsel's comment, but did not change its order. *Id.*

Vanisi was, again, found competent. 18AA03794.9

3. Vanisi's mental health continued to be a problem; the relationship between Vanisi and counsel began to breakdown.

Between the court ordering the competency evaluation and its finding of competence, Vanisi filed a pro per motion to fire his attorneys. 17AA03480. During the resulting *in camera* hearing, the court repeatedly asked Vanisi for specific issues between him and counsel; Vanisi, in turn, repeatedly queried the court about what it meant by "specific." *See, e.g.*, 17AA03514 (Court: "You have to be specific. What did they tell you, give you advice about that you did some

⁹ For this competency evaluation, Dr. Thomas Bittker, M.D., and Dr. Frank Evarts, Ph.D., evaluated Vanisi. 22AA04616; 3AA00554. Dr. Bittker concluded that Vanisi was "malingering" but also indicated "rule out bipolar disorder." 22AA04622. Dr. Evarts concluded Vanisi was malingering. 3AA00555.

research on that you think they are wrong about?"); 17AA03516 (Vanisi: "Give me an answer of something specific because I'm afraid that I'm going to fail you again if I were to explain to you why. Give me an example, Judge."); id. (Vanisi: "Before I address that, can you give me another example? Can you give me another example of a specific issue? . . . because I'm not understanding exactly the specifics you are asking for. So give me—let's just hypothetical, give me a specific example, please."); 17AA03517 (Vanisi: "I think we need to try a little harder for the brain power because I tried to explain to you and yet it wasn't sufficient for you to understand."). Vanisi tried to explain at length his issues with counsel. 17AA03510-30. After giving trial counsel an opportunity to respond, the court denied Vanisi's motion. 17AA03530-43.

At the same hearing, trial counsel repeated concerns about Vanisi's mental health, noting, "Your Honor, I think you have seen an example of how manic Mr. Vanisi can be and how difficult he is to handle." 17AA03545. Counsel reiterated their request that the court order that the prison medicate Vanisi. 17AA03545–46. The court

disagreed with counsel's characterization of "manic": "I mean, he is excitable, but I would not call him manic." 17AA03546. Counsel emphasized the difference between Vanisi in court and Vanisi during visits:

Mr. Gregory: Well, Judge, how would you like

to be in a room with him as opposed to these formal proceedings where you have some control and you are not able to get his attention. That's the problem I have with Mr.

Vanisi.

The Court: Okay.

Mr. Gregory: You can't have a substantive

conversation because once he gets a thought in his mind, that's

it, and you can't give him a

reasonable answer, as the Court attempted to do, because he just continues and continues and

continues.

17AA03546-47.

In July, trial counsel secured an ex parte order for medical treatment from the chief judge. 17AA03494. Shortly after, the State raised concerns about the order, so the trial judge ordered another

hearing regarding Vanisi's mental health. See 17AA03560. At the hearing, the court expressed its concerns about the complexity of the court supervision required for medicating Vanisi:

This is my concern about the treatment. I have to be able to determine, number one, that the specific drugs that are being recommended will not affect his competency and his ability to assist counsel throughout the trial. And we also have to be clear that the actual drugs that are being administered are voluntary. I know that he wants drugs, but we still need to have specific inquiry.

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