IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SIAOSI VANISI,

Appellant,

No. 78209

Electronically Filed Dec 12 2019 03:55 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

V.

WILLIAM A. GITTERE, WARDEN,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

RENE L. VALLADARES Federal Public Defender

RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER Assistant Federal Public Defender JOANNE L. DIAMOND Assistant Federal Public Defender 411 E. Bonneville, Suite 250, Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS
Washoe County District Attorney

JENNIFER P. NOBLE Chief Appellate Deputy KEVIN NAUGHTON Appellate Deputy One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

assistance of counsel, he waives the attorney-client privilege as to all communications with his allegedly ineffective lawyer. *Bittaker v. Woodford*, 331 F.3d 715, 716 (9th Cir. 2003).

NRPC 1.6(b) (5) provides that a lawyer may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary to respond to allegations in any proceeding concerning the lawyer's representation of the client. The plain language of NRPC 1.6(b) (5) also allows for an attorney to communicate regarding allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel.

In trying to establish some wrongdoing by the WCDA, the FPD cited to ABA Formal Opinion 10-456, which has never been adopted by the Nevada State Bar, or this Court. While their motion to withdraw was pending, on July 2, 2018, the Nevada State Bar's Standing Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility (hereafter "the Committee") issued Formal Opinion 55, expressly rejecting ABA Opinion 10-456. ³ Although Formal Opinion 55 was apparently withdrawn in order for the Committee to allow further commentary from interested parties, the fact remains that

///

³ Formal Opinion 55 was later withdrawn pursuant to an Order of the Nevada Supreme Court.

no authority in Nevada, binding or advisory, prohibited the WCDA from contacting Vanisi's former defense team.

c. The FPD's Claims of Confidentiality Are Disingenuous As the FPD Made Nearly Two Hundred Pages of Privileged, Confidential, and Sensitive Client Information Part of the Public Record.

The FPD's serious allegations of ethical violations ring particularly hollow in light of the approximately two hundred pages of confidential internal memoranda, emails, and declarations attached to the Second Petition as exhibits. 18AA 3841-3859; 19AA 3860-4080; 28AA 5816, 5856-5857; 5859-5861; 5869-5895; 5906-5940; 32AA 6712-6718. These exhibits included the declarations of former attorneys Jeremy Bosler and Stephen Gregory about mitigation strategy. *Id.* They also included Washoe County Public Defender Michael Specchio's memorandum completed pursuant to SCR 250. *Id.* The FPD also included additional internal file documents, emails, and memoranda from the WCPD's office. *Id.*

The FPD also filed Specchio's SCR 250 Memorandum. This highly sensitive, confidential document was over one hundred pages of privileged, and at times damning, information about Vanisi, including Vanisi's request that the defense team pursue a fraudulent and dishonest defense. 18AA 3841-3870. It included Specchio's analysis and observation regarding trial

///

strategy, mitigation strategy, Vanisi's admissions of guilt, Vanisi's desire to blame the crime on a relative, and Vanisi's total lack of remorse. *Id.*

Additionally, former defense investigator Calderon-Bright's declaration regarded defense team communications about mitigation experts, potential travel to Tonga, conversations with Bosler, conversations with Specchio, Specchio's decisions regarding interviews of family members and mitigation witnesses, and her opinions about the performance of counsel. 28AA 5816. The FPD also filed an internal memorandum from Specchio, which indicated Dr. Lynn's findings that Vanisi was not insane and spoke of the murder nonchalantly. The memorandum also indicated that Vanisi admitted to lying in wait for Sergeant Sullivan because he hated cops and wanted to use the sergeant's gun to rob a convenience store. *Id.*, 5856-5857.

Another letter from Specchio to the federal public defender indicated that Vanisi had admitted to "pulling the chains" of the authorities while in jail. 28AA 5664. Additional internal documents filed by the FPD indicated that he admitted to having the hatchet in his right and left hand during the murder, summaries of interviews of potential mitigation witnesses, correspondence between Specchio and mitigation expert Scharlette Holdman, and indications by the Tongan community that they did not want

to support Vanisi, efforts by Specchio to contact cultural experts, Specchio's conversations with Vanisi, memos from Specchio to Calderon-Bright, and memos from Calderon-Bright to defense investigator Evo Novak. 28AA 3832-5893; 5894; 5899; 5904.

C. The Question of Vanisi's Right to Self-Representation Was Decided By the Nevada Supreme Court in 2001, and Falls Outside the Narrow Scope of the Remand Order.

1. Standard of Review

"When an appellate court remands a case, the district court 'must proceed in accordance with the mandate and the law of the case as established on appeal." *State Engineer v. Eureka County*, 133 Nev. 557, 559, 402 P.3d 1249, 1251 (2017) *quoting E.E.O.C. v. Kronos Inc.*, 694 F.3d 351, 361 (3d Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). "The district court commits error if its subsequent order contradicts the appellate court's directions." *Id., citing Stacy v. Colvin*, 825 F.3d 563, 568 (9th Cir. 2016).

2. Discussion

This Court remanded Vanisi's case for the limited purpose of conducting an evidentiary hearing "concerning whether Vanisi was prejudiced by postconviction counsel's failure to substantiate their claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to introduce additional mitigation evidence." 34AA 07300. That was the only purpose for the

remand. In recognition of this fact, the district court denied the FPD's request to supplement the Second Petition. 38AA 08176-08180. The district court properly conducted limited proceedings in accordance with this Court's orders on remand. To allow the FPD to expand the scope of the hearings on remand, to supplement his petition, or to make additional arguments not heard by the district court, would effectively hold that the district court should have disregarded this Court's mandate in violation of *State Engineer v. Eureka County, supra*, and the express guidance in the order remanding.

The Opening Brief argues that "[t]he trial court denied Vanisi's request to represent himself pursuant to *Faretta v. California*, 422 US 806, 833-34 (1975)." OB p. 148. This Court, in deciding Vanisi's direct appeal in 2001, concluded that the district court had "acted within its discretion" in denying Vanisi's self-representation request on the grounds that Vanisi's request "was part of a pattern of dilatory activity," "Vanisi had shown himself unable or unwilling to abide by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol," and based upon the complexity of the case. 117 Nev. 330, 337-342, 22 P.3d 1164, 1169-1172 (2001).

In 2010, while ruling on Vanisi's appeal related to his first postconviction petition, the Court recognized that "Vanisi's claim[] that he

was denied the right to represent himself... [was] addressed on direct appeal" and was "therefore barred by the doctrine of the law of the case." *Vanisi v. State*, 126 Nev. 765, 367 P.3d 830 (table), 2010 WL 3270985 at *2 (2010) (unpublished) *citing Bejarano v. State*, 122 Nev. 1066, 1074, 146 P.3d 265, 271 (2006); *Vanisi v. State*, 177 Nev. 330, 337-41, 344 P.3d 1164, 1169-72, 1173-74 (2001). Vanisi's argument that he was denied the right to represent himself remains barred by the law of the case doctrine.

The Opening Brief also contends that Vanisi was constructively deprived of counsel during his trial as a result of the trial court's rejection of counsel's request to withdraw. OB pp. 153-157. This claim has also been raised previously. In the First Supplemental Petition, initial habeas counsel filed a claim alleging violation of Vanisi's Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment Rights based upon the district court's alleged error in refusing to allow trial counsel to withdraw. 19AA 03989-03993. The district court denied this claim. 21AA 04387-04389. This Court affirmed, holding that the district court did not err in finding that the claim was one of sixteen that was "procedurally barred, barred by the doctrine of the law of the case, or without merit." Vanisi v. State, 126 Nev. 765, 367 P.3d 830 (table), 2010 WL 3270985 at *2 (2010) (unpublished). This claim is also subject to the doctrine of the law of the case and barred.

D. <u>The District Court Appropriately Denied the FPD's 2018</u> <u>Motion to File An Untimely, Procedurally Barred Supplemental</u> Petition.

1. Standard of Review

Where the issue is whether or not good cause exists to excuse procedural bars, this Court will not disturb the district court's decision absent an abuse of discretion. *Colley v. State*, 105 Nev. 235, 773 P.2d 1229 (1989).

2. Discussion

a. The supplemental petition was pursued against the competent client's consent.

Only after the district court denied the FPD's motion to disqualify the WCDA, and after it allowed Vanisi to waive the evidentiary hearing against the FPD's advice, did the FPD seek to supplement the Second Petition it filed in 2011. 38AA 8088-8114. The district court properly denied the motion, for a number of reasons.

Vanisi waived his remaining postconviction ground after two competency evaluations, and a thorough canvass. The FPD made no showing that Vanisi desired to withdraw his waiver. Although the FPD continued to argue about Vanisi's "severe mental illness," this characterization was not offered by either Dr. Moulton or Dr. Zuchowski. More importantly, Vanisi clearly told the district court that he did not want

any form of penalty relief in state court. Dr. Moulton and Dr. Zuchowski found Vanisi competent. The district court found Vanisi competent. The FPD did not present any new information to challenge that finding. They were unauthorized by either Vanisi or the law to request that the district court allow them to amend the Second Petition because Vanisi is the sole person who decides the goal of his representation. Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.2(a) ("a lawyer shall abide by a client's decision concerning the objectives of representation").

b. The proposed supplemental petition was procedurally barred without good cause for the delay, because the FPD knew for years that Vanisi had been diagnosed with mental health conditions, and had displayed bizarre behavior.

In addition to being contrary to their client's wishes, the new claim in the proposed supplemental petition was also procedurally barred. A petitioner must file a post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus within one year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur if an appeal is taken. NRS 34.726(1). Each claim in the petition must be timely. *See Rippo v. State*, 368 P.3d 729, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 11 (2016) (a petition asserting ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel to excuse the procedural default of other claims has been filed within a reasonable time after the postconviction-counsel claim became available so long as it is filed within one year after entry of the district court's order disposing of the prior

petition or, if a timely appeal was taken from the district court's order, within one year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur). An untimely or successive petition is procedurally barred and must be dismissed absent a demonstration of good cause for the delay and undue prejudice. *Id.*; NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2); *State v. Haberstroh*, 119 Nev. 173, 180, 69 P.3d 676, 681 (2003) (application of the procedural default rules to post-conviction petitions for writs of habeas corpus is mandatory); *Pellegrini v. State*, 117 Nev. 860, 876, 34 P.3d 519, 530 (2001) (the Nevada Legislature "never intended for petitioners to have multiple opportunities to obtain post-conviction relief absent extraordinary circumstances.").

Good cause is established by showing that an impediment external to the defense prevented a petitioner from filing a timely petition or claim. *See Harris v. Warden*, 114 Nev. 956, 959, 964 P.2d 785, 787 (1998), *clarified by Hathaway v. State*, 119 Nev. 248, 71 P.3d 503 (2003); *see also Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S. 478, 488 (1986). "An impediment external to the defense may be demonstrated by a showing 'that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that 'some interference by officials,' made compliance impracticable.' " *Hathaway v. State*, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (*quoting Murray*, 477 U.S. at 488 (1986) (citations omitted)).

The failure to show good cause may be excused where the prejudice from a failure to consider the claim amounts to a "fundamental miscarriage of justice." Mazzan v. Warden, 112 Nev. 838, 842, 921 P.2d 920, 922 (1996); Hogan, 109 Nev. at 959, 860 P.2d at 715–16; cf. NRS 34.800(1)(b). This standard can be met where the petitioner makes a colorable showing that he is actually innocent of the crime or is ineligible for the death penalty. See Mazzan, 112 Nev. at 842, 921 P.2d at 922; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 954–55, 959, 860 P.2d at 712, 715–16. A claim that the petitioner is actually ineligible for the death penalty rests on a showing by clear and convincing evidence that, but for a constitutional error, no reasonable juror would have found him death eligible, "and not on additional mitigating evidence that was prevented from being introduced as a result of claimed constitutional error[.]" *Sawyer v. Whitley*, 505 U.S. 333, 336, 347 (1992); Hogan, 109 Nev. at 960, 860 P.2d at 716.

A defendant is eligible for the death penalty in Nevada when the elements of a capital offense and at least one aggravating circumstance have been shown. *Lisle v. State*, 351 P.3d 725, 734, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 39 (2015) ("We therefore conclude that an actual innocence inquiry in Nevada must focus on the objective factors that make a defendant eligible for the death penalty, that is, the objective factors that narrow the class of

defendants for whom death may be imposed" and not by showing the existence of new mitigating evidence.).

The FPD continues to claim that Vanisi is ineligible for the death penalty. But the FPD makes no showing that Vanisi is not death eligible—i.e., that the elements of first-degree murder have not been met and at least one aggravator does not exist. Thus, their assertion that Vanisi is "severely mentally ill" is irrelevant. Furthermore, Vanisi made it quite clear that he does not want to challenge his death sentence. Yet, the FPD continues to blatantly ignore their client's desire and pursue their own agenda, disregarding the district court's finding that Vanisi competently waived his hearing.

Citing *Barnhart v. State*, 122 Nev. 301, 130 P.3d 650 (2006), they assert that the district court erred in denying leave to supplement the petition, because the "severe mental illness" claim was "not available sooner." OB, 121. *Barnhart* held that the district court did not abuse its discretion by not permitting a petitioner to raise a new claim at a postconviction habeas hearing because "[c]ounsel for petitioner provided no reason why that claim could not have been pleaded in the supplemental petition." *Id.* at 304, 130 P.3d at 652. Thus, good cause requires, after an evidentiary hearing has started (and certainly after it has concluded), a

showing of why the claim could not have been presented earlier. The FPD never made that showing, and cannot make that showing.

Vanisi's mental illness has been well-known for years, and the FPD's assertion that it did not previously know Vanisi had been diagnosed with mental illness is disingenuous. In the Opening Brief, the FPD dedicates the bulk of its factual recitation to recounting manifestations of mental illness beginning in 1998. OB, 7-23, 31-47. In fact, in a letter dated October 6, 1998. Assistant Federal Public Defender Michael Pescetta indicated that he had "received some information that Mr. Vanisi may be suffering from a bipolar disorder..." 27 AA 05863. In support of its insistence that Vanisi is too mentally ill to be executed, it cites to Dr. Bittker and Dr. Amezaga's testimony in 2005. OB, 35-38. The FPD also uses the opinions of Dr. Mack and Dr. Foliaki, offered in 2011, to support the same argument. No explanation is offered for why the FPD waited at least eight years to raise the claim in the supplemental petition.

The petition was procedurally barred, without good cause. NRS 34.726(1); *Rippo v. State*, 368 P.3d 729, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 11 (2016). The district court properly rejected it.

///

///

c. Mental illness does not operate to stay or bar execution.

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